



GLOBAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP MONITOR

2007 Report on Women and Entrepreneurship

I. Elaine Allen • Amanda Elam • Nan Langowitz • Monica Dean





About the Cover: In 1975, March 8 was officially ratified as International Women's Day by the United Nations. The origins of International Women's Day go back to the 1900s, and the celebration is mainly connected to women's achievement of the right to vote. The yellow flower on the cover of the report and throughout its pages is from the mimosa tree. The flower has a delightful perfume and the tree blooms in early March in mild climates. It is often given to women on Women's Day and therefore has become known as "the women's flower."

© 2008 by I. Elaine Allen, Amanda Elam, Nan Langowitz, Monica Dean, and Global Entrepreneurship Research Association (GERA).



GLOBAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP MONITOR

2007 Report on Women and Entrepreneurship

I. Elaine Allen, PhD • Amanda Elam, PhD • Nan Langowitz, DBA • Monica Dean





Although the data used are from the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) project, the sole responsibility for the content rests with the authors of this report.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables and Figures	3
Acknowledgements	4
Methodology	5
Executive Summary	6
Women's Entrepreneurial Activity	11
- Gender Differences in Participation Rates and Stage of Entrepreneurship	11
- Entrepreneurial Motivation and Business Outcomes	15
- Entrepreneurial Scope: Sectoral Distribution and Growth Potential	22
- Demographic and Economic Factors Influencing Women's	
Entrepreneurial Behavior	28
Characteristics of Women Entrepreneurs and Factors Influencing Perceptions	
About the Entrepreneurial Environment	35
Conclusions and Implications for Policy	40
GEM 2007 National Teams	41
GEM Sponsors	45
Contacts	46



List of Tables

Table 1	Prevalence Rates of Entrepreneurial Activity Across Countries by
	Gender 2007

- Table 2
 Difference in Prevalence Rates Across Country Groups by

 Gender 2007
- Table 3Ratio of Opportunity to Necessity Early Stage Entrepreneurship by
Country and Gender
- Table 4Country Group Differences in Opportunity to Necessity Early StageEntrepreneurship by Gender
- Table 5Factors Influencing the Entrepreneurs' Perceptions by Gender and
Business Stage
- Table 6Cumulative Percentages of Gender and Country Variances Explained
by National Wealth, Social Position, and Perceptions in Three Years
of GEM Data

List of Figures

Figure 1	Women's Entrepreneurial Motivation by Country 2007
Figure 2	Sectoral Distribution of Female Entrepreneurship by Country Group and Business Stage
Figure 3	Intensity of Expected Competition for Women's Businesses by Business Stage
Figure 4	Age Distribution of Women Entrepreneurs by Country Groups and Business Stage
Figure 5	Female Early Stage Entrepreneurial Activity by Work Status and Country Groups
Figure 6	Female Educational Attainments by Country Group and Business Stage
Figure 7	Women Entrepreneurs Household Income by Country Groups and Business Stage



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) study on women's entrepreneurship is part of the overall GEM project, which focuses on measuring differences in the level of entrepreneurial activity among countries, uncovering factors leading to entrepreneurial behavior, and suggesting policies that may enhance national levels of entrepreneurial activity. GEM is a collaborative effort in terms of financial resources and intellectual advancement, as well as design and analysis.

This report makes use of data collected by 41 country teams, as follows:

Asia and Oceania

China, Hong Kong, India, Japan, Thailand

Africa and the Middle East Israel

Europe

Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Kazakhstan, Latvia, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, and the United Kingdom

North America

United States

Latin America and Caribbean

Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Peru, Puerto Rico, Uruguay, and Venezuela

We sincerely thank the members of each country team for their colleagueship and collaborative research spirit. All national team reports can be found at www.gemconsortium.org.

Of course, GEM would not be possible without the financial support and research initiative of Babson College and London Business School, its two sponsoring institutions, and we are grateful to them for their leadership and encouragement on this project.



METHODOLOGY

GEM is a major research project aimed at describing and analyzing entrepreneurial processes within a wide range of countries. In particular, GEM focuses on three main objectives:

- To measure differences in the level of entrepreneurial activity between countries
- To uncover factors determining the levels of entrepreneurial activity
- To identify policies that may enhance the level of entrepreneurial activity

Since its inception in 1999, GEM's major activity has been the creation of a large data set and the construction of harmonized measures of entrepreneurial activity. The data used in this report come from the 2007 GEM adult population surveys, and from standardized cross-national data obtained from sources such as the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund, and the United Nations. The 2007 GEM adult population surveys were conducted by telephone or face to face, and were designed to yield a representative sample of the population within each country. The GEM data set for the Women's Report in 2007 includes responses from 145,248 individuals, 49.9 percent of whom were women.

The 41 GEM countries participating in the 2007 Women's Report were divided into three country groups (low/middle-income Europe and Asia, low/middle-income Latin America and Caribbean and high-income) based on their per capita gross domestic product (GDP) and GDP growth rate. The Europe and Asia low/middle-income country group is comprised of 11 countries. They are: China, Croatia, Hungary, India, Kazakhstan, Latvia, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Thailand, and Turkey. The Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income country group is comprised of eight countries. They are: Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Peru, Uruguay, and Venezuela. The highincome country group is comprised of 22 countries: Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Hong Kong, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Puerto Rico, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, United Kingdom, and United States. For each country, data are weighted by gender, age, and in some cases geographical distribution in order to adjust the sample to each population.

Detailed information on GEM data collection methodology can be found in the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2007 Data Assessment available through the GEM Consortium Web site at www.gemconsortium.org.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



Women entrepreneurs make an important contribution to the development of the world economy, particularly in low- and middle-income countries. The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) 2007 Report on Women and Entrepreneurship is the fourth in a series of reports undertaken to provide a comprehensive and up-to-date study of the role played by women involved in entrepreneurial activity across the world economy. The GEM research project provides comparable data for a crossnational assessment of entrepreneurial activity in 41 countries* whose economies represent more than 70 percent of the world's population and 93 percent of global GDP in 2007. The GEM 2007 Women's Report provides an analysis of the key characteristics and context of female entrepreneurial activity and how that may differ from that of their male counterparts. It is our hope that this work will advance the understanding of the needs of aspiring and existing female entrepreneurs, and will provide policy insights useful to developing and enhancing an environment in which the spirit of women's entrepreneurship may flourish.

In 1997, the United Nations Economic and Social Council established a gender mainstreaming program to guide research, policymaking, and program development under the purview of the United Nations Development Program. Fundamental to the establishment of this type of program is the understanding that real progress cannot be made without an investment in both the men and women in a given country. Indeed, research on women in development indicates that the returns to the investment in women are much higher than for men. Women are more likely to share their gains in education, health, and resources with members of their families and their communities at large. Research on microfinance indicates that the same is true for economic investments. Women are simply more likely to work for, buy for, and share their economic and noneconomic rewards with other people. To put it more explicitly in economic terms, investment in women's entrepreneurship is an important way for countries to exponentially increase the impact of new venture

creation. Ignoring the proven potential of women's entrepreneurial activity means that countries put themselves at a disadvantage and thwart their opportunity to increase economic growth. For this reason, finding ways to empower women's participation and success in entrepreneurship is critical for more sustainable and successful economic development in all countries.

ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITY

In an effort to understand the activity of entrepreneurs at various stages of business formation, GEM identifies two categories of entrepreneurs-early stage and established—based upon the age of their businesses. Early stage entrepreneurs are those involved in owning and managing, alone or with others, a nascent business, or one that has been in operation for 42 months or less. By contrast, established entrepreneurs, are those involved in owning and managing, alone or with others, a business that has successfully survived in the market beyond 42 months, as $3^{1/2}$ years is the approximate critical period within which a business is most likely to fail. These two categories are very important as they convey different information about the entrepreneurial landscape of a country. Early stage entrepreneurship indicates the dynamic entrepreneurial propensity of a country. In other words, it shows the percentage of population willing and able to undertake new venture creation. Established business ownership, instead, indicates the percentage of population actively involved in running businesses that have proven to be sustainable.

Entrepreneurial activity varies significantly across countries, both in terms of the level and the type of entrepreneurship, but countries with similar levels of per capita GDP tend to exhibit broadly similar patterns. While GDP is an important aspect to examine, there also are important regional and cultural differences in entrepreneurial activity. This year, GEM grouped countries into two low/middle-income groups, Europe/Asia and Latin America/Caribbean, and one high-income group taking into account GDP as well as region and culture. On average, low/middle-income countries have modest per capita income (averaging \$10,407 U.S.) and fastergrowing economies (average GDP growth of 5.4 percent), compared to high-income countries (with average per capita income of close to \$35,000 U.S., and average GDP growth of 3.5 percent). Regardless of gender, entrepreneurial activity is significantly higher in both of the low/middle-income groups than in the high-income group of countries. And, entrepreneurial activity is significantly higher in the low/middle-income Latin American and Caribbean group (21 percent) than either the low/middle-income European and Asian group (12.2 percent) or the high-income group (7.9 percent).

Across the 41 countries participating in this report, the pattern of entrepreneurial activity also held true by type of entrepreneurship. Low/ middle-income countries in Latin America and the Caribbean exhibited the highest rates of female early stage entrepreneurial activity (14.4 percent), while the European and Asian low/middle-income country group (7.62 percent) and the high-income country group (4.34 percent) exhibited increasingly lower rates of female early stage entrepreneurial activity, respectively. The participation of women in established business-ownership also follows this pattern.

Examination of entrepreneurial behavior around the globe yields a clear picture of a gender gap in venture creation and ownership activity. Overall, with the exception of Japan, Thailand, Peru, and Brazil, where the rates of early entrepreneurial activity are larger or almost identical in males and females, men are more likely to be involved in entrepreneurial activity than women. The entrepreneurial gender gap exhibits varying dimensions and characteristics, including the following:

 In all three country income groups, a significant gender gap exists for both early stage entrepreneurial participation and established business ownership, and this gender gap is greatest in the high-income country group, regardless of type of activity. In the high-income group, men are almost twice as likely to be early stage or established business owners than women.

- In 2007, only in Japan and Peru are women more active in starting a business than men.
- The Latin American and Caribbean low/middleincome countries exhibit a narrower gender gap. particularly for early stage entrepreneurship. In these countries, the gender gap between male and female early stage entrepreneurs is 24.0 percent, but it widens to 47.1 percent for established business owners. Surprisingly, the gender gap in European and Asian low/middle-income countries is almost identical to the gender gap in high-income countries for early stage entrepreneurs (44.8 percent and 43.4 percent, respectively). Further, these two country groups have a gender gap for early stage entrepreneurship that is nearly double that found in the Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income countries. In the European and Asian low/middle-income countries and the higher-income countries, the gender gap for established business owners in these country groups is 44.3 percent and 52.3 percent, respectively, which are guite similar to the Latin American and Caribbean low/middleincome countries. These striking differences in low/middle-income country groups highlight the regional and cultural differences in the two groups, and those differences have the most impact on early stage entrepreneurship with respect to gender.
- The gender gap with respect to new venture survival rates varies across country groups. High-income countries show a greater overall likelihood that early stage entrepreneurs will become established entrepreneurs compared with both low/middle-income country groups; and in high-income countries there is no gender difference in the survival rate of women's businesses versus those of men. In both regional groups of low/middle-income countries, however, a gender gap is present and the likelihood of business survival beyond 42 months is lower for women than for men.



MOTIVATIONS AND BUSINESS OUTCOME

The GEM survey allows us to differentiate the motives of entrepreneurial behavior. The GEM framework labels those individuals who start a business to exploit a perceived business opportunity as opportunity entrepreneurs, and those who are, by contrast, pushed to start a business because all other options for work are either absent or unsatisfactory as necessity entrepreneurs. Although the vast majority of early stage entrepreneurs say they are attempting to take advantage of a business opportunity, the ratio of opportunity to necessity entrepreneurship is significantly higher in the highincome country group than in low/middle-income country groups, and this effect is significantly greater for women entrepreneurs.

An analysis of entrepreneurial motivation shows several interesting gender differences including:

- The rate of opportunity entrepreneurs differs significantly by gender in both low/middle-income country groups and the high-income countries.
 In general, across all countries, the rate of male opportunity entrepreneurship is higher than that of women.
- By contrast, there is no gender gap with respect to necessity entrepreneurship. Regardless of country group, no significant difference by gender is apparent in the rate of necessity entrepreneurship. For the Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income countries, the rate of female necessity exceeds that of males but the difference is not statistically significant.

ENTREPRENEURIAL SCOPE

The focus and potential of entrepreneurial activity is quite varied worldwide. The scope of women's entrepreneurial activity may be understood by looking at industry sector, use of technology, firm employment, and growth potential. Women's businesses exhibit many similar patterns to those of men and may be characterized in scope as follows:

 Women entrepreneurs create and run businesses across all of the broad industrial sectors of extraction, transformation, business services, and consumer-oriented products, as do men. The industrial focus of women's firms differs somewhat from that of male counterparts with a significantly higher percentage of women's ventures in the consumer-oriented sector compared with men's for both early stage entrepreneurs (60.3 percent vs. 37.0 percent) and established entrepreneurs (50.7 percent vs. 30.4 percent).

- Latin American and Caribbean low/middleincome countries are the locale for the highest level of women's participation in consumeroriented industry (74.3 percent), while the high-income countries show somewhat higher rates of women's participation in extractive, transformative, and business services sectors (52.1 percent).
- Judging the expected growth potential of businesses based upon their use of technology, level of competition, and novelty of products or service offerings, similar patterns are evident for female and male entrepreneurs for all countries. This holds true for both early stage and established businesses.

CHARACTERISTICS OF WOMEN ENTREPRENEURS

Research has shown that age, work status, education, income, social ties and perceptions are all significant socioeconomic factors in a person's decision to start a business. While many similarities exist among women and men entrepreneurs, there also are some interesting differences, as follows:

- The pattern of age distribution for men and women entrepreneurs is similar and comparable regardless of country or stage of entrepreneurship. In the low/middle-income country groups, women are most likely to be early stage entrepreneurs between the ages of 25 to 34, and to become established entrepreneurs between the ages of 35 to 44 years old. In high-income countries, the age window for women's entrepreneurial activity broadens, with early stage entrepreneurial activity most likely among women ages 25 to 44 and established business ownership most likely among women 35 to 54 years old.
- Regardless of gender or country group,



employment matters to entrepreneurial activity. The likelihood of being involved in entrepreneurial activity is three to four times higher for those women who also are employed in a wage job (whether full or part time) compared to those who are not working, are retired, or are students. This suggests that working provides access to resources, social capital, and ideas that may aid in establishing an entrepreneurial venture.

On average, women entrepreneurs in highincome countries are better educated than those in low/middle-income countries. In high-income countries, more than half of women entrepreneurs have secondary degrees, and more than one-quarter have graduate degrees. In low/ middle-income countries, the percent of women early stage entrepreneurs and established business owners with less than a secondary degree is 34.1 percent and 40.4 percent, respectively, for Latin American and Caribbean group and 39.2 percent and 39.7 percent, respectively, for the European and Asian group. In the aggregate, the rates of less than secondary education range from 47 percent to 85 percent less than is the case for women entrepreneurs in higher-income countries, depending upon stage of entrepreneurship and country group.

Surprisingly, in all country groups, the level of educational attainment is not consistently higher for women who are established business owners than for women who are early stage entrepreneurs. In fact, except for women with only some secondary education, the level of education is the same or higher for early stage entrepreneurs compared with established business owners. While none of these differences is significant, this pattern was not seen in earlier GEM women's reports and may indicate a generally higher level of education for women in all countries.

In all three country groups, women and men in households with the highest incomes are more likely to be involved in early stage entrepreneurial activity. Rates of activity rise with an increase in

household income for established business owners in all country groups and for all women entrepreneurs, regardless of business stage, in the high-income countries. By contrast, low versus middle percentile household income is not a significant influence on the rates of early stage entrepreneurship in either of the low/ middle-income country groups. Nonetheless, early stage entrepreneurial activity is four times higher among women in Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income countries compared to women in high-income countries, regardless of income level. For the European and Asian low/middle-income countries, there is only a two-fold difference compared to high-income countries.

- Considering the interactions of employment, income level, and education, some interesting results appear. For those with a household income in the lowest group, having a job makes a woman more than three times as likely to be involved in early stage entrepreneurship than if she is not employed (74.3 percent and 21.6 percent respectively). And, given only some secondary education, a working woman is nearly twice as likely to be involved in early stage entrepreneurship as a nonworking woman (17.6 percent and 9.9 percent respectively). Furthermore, considering only higher educational attainments within household income groups does not yield an increase in female early stage entrepreneurship; it is employment that seems to matter most. These findings may suggest that for the poorer and less educated, paid employment provides a valuable platform toward starting a business.
- Women entrepreneurs tend to be more confident in their own skills, are more likely to know other entrepreneurs, and are more alert to the existence of unexploited opportunities than women who indicate no entrepreneurial activity. This pattern is identical to what men exhibit. Nonetheless, in all three country groups, women's level of optimism and self-confidence with respect to starting a business is lower than that of their male counterparts. These



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

perceptions are subjective and are likely influenced by contextual factors, such as culture and social norms. They do not appear to be correlated in any significant way with education, work status, or household income.

 Similarly, entrepreneurs generally exhibit less fear of failure than those who indicate no entrepreneurial activity. Still among entrepreneurs, women in all country groups were more likely to express a fear of business failure compared to their male counterparts. The gender gap in fear of failure was largest between men and women in Europe and Asia low/middle-income countries (approximately 8 percent), followed by the Latin America and Caribbean low/middle-income countries (approximately 5 percent), with no significant gender gap in the high-income countries (less than 3 percent). Women in the Europe and Asia low/middle-income countries had the highest fear of failure rates (40.3 percent), compared to women in Latin America and Caribbean low/middle-income countries (34.2 percent) and women in high-income countries (27.1 percent). Fear of failure for women in low/middle-income countries may be higher because of the higher prevalence of necessity entrepreneurship among women in these regions.

IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICY

The GEM data for 2007 suggests several important conclusions with respect to women's entrepreneurship around the globe:

- Women's entrepreneurship matters. Women are creating and running businesses across a wide range of countries and under varying circumstances. Female entrepreneurship is an increasingly salient part of the economic makeup of many countries and is a key contributor to economic growth in low/middle-income countries, particularly in Latin America and the Caribbean.
- A gender gap exists with respect to new venture creation and business ownership. This gap is significant and systematic, varying both by country GDP as well as by region. The gender difference is more pronounced in high-income countries but

persists throughout all regions, with European and Asian low/middle-income countries showing a greater gap than the Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income countries.

- Being employed and having a social network that includes other entrepreneurs are stronger predictors of women's entrepreneurship than educational attainment or household income.
- Perceptual factors that reflect optimism, self-confidence, and reduced fear of failure are important predictors of women's entrepreneurship.

Women find themselves in very different situations compared to men, and these different situations result in different perceptions about the world. Given similar situations, the data suggests that women nonetheless perceive the world differently from men. The implications for policymaking that emerge from this diversity of circumstances and perspectives point to the need for customized or targeted policies. As we have learned from such programs as the UNDP's gender mainstreaming initiative, successful and sustainable economic growth is best achieved when all citizens are mobilized and empowered. Research and policymaking may perhaps best be focused on how to effectively change the business environment and social institutions to support women through employment, access to social and financial capital, and raising self-confidence. Of particular importance is research that investigates the relationship between factors at the country and regional level and key indicators at the individual level. The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor points scholars and policymakers to some of these key indicators and offers the opportunity for further inquiry.



Women entrepreneurs make an important contribution to the development of the world economy, particularly in low- and middle-income countries. The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) 2007 Report on Women and Entrepreneurship is the fourth in a series of reports undertaken to provide a comprehensive and up-to-date study of the role played by women involved in entrepreneurial activity across the world economy. The GEM research project provides comparable data for a cross-national assessment of entrepreneurial activity in 41 countries whose economies represent more than 93 percent of global GDP in 2007. This report provides an analysis of the key characteristics and context of female entrepreneurial activity and how that may differ from that of their male counterparts. It is our hope that this work will advance the understanding of the needs of aspiring and existing female entrepreneurs, and will provide policy insights useful to developing and enhancing an environment in which the spirit of women's entrepreneurship may flourish.

GENDER DIFFERENCES IN PARTICIPATION RATES AND STAGE OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP

Entrepreneurial activity varies significantly across countries, but countries with similar levels of per capita GDP tend to exhibit broadly similar patterns. While GDP is an important aspect to examine, there also are important regional and cultural differences in entrepreneurial activity. This year, GEM divides countries into two low/middle-income groups and one high-income group based upon their per capita gross domestic product (GDP) and global region. On average, low/middle-income countries have modest per capita income and faster-growing economies compared to high-income countries. The GDP in the low/middle-income countries averages \$10,407 U.S., and the average level of GDP growth is between 5 and 6 percent. Eleven countries comprise the Europe and Asia low/middle-income country group. They are China, Croatia, Hungary, India, Kazakhstan, Latvia, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Thailand, and Turkey. The Latin American and

Caribbean low/middle-income country group includes eight countries. They are Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Peru, Uruguay, and Venezuela. The high-income country group contains the G7/8 countries and most member states of the European Union and North America. The GDP for this group averages close to \$35,000 U.S. and has an average growth rate between 3 and 4 percent. The high-income country group is comprised of 22 countries: Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Hong Kong, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Puerto Rico, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, United Kingdom, and United States.

Regardless of gender, entrepreneurial activity is significantly higher in both the low/middle-income country groups than in the high-income countries. And, entrepreneurial activity is significantly higher in the low/middle-income Latin American and Caribbean group (21.0 percent) than either the low/middle-income European and Asian group (12.2 percent) or the high-income group (7.9 percent). Nonetheless, a gender gap is apparent in the participation rates of men and women, in all three country groups. The gender gap is more pronounced in high-income countries than in either of the low/ middle-income groups, but also is considerably higher, with smaller gender differences, in the Latin American and Caribbean country group. These differences may be explained in part by the differences in choices for women across these country groups, in which labor markets, institutional structures, and cultural norms provide a varying array of incentives to women's entrepreneurial activity. Overall, men are more likely to be involved in entrepreneurial activity than women, but there are some interesting exceptions. In Japan, Brazil, Peru, and Thailand the entrepreneurial activities of women equal or exceed those of men. Nonetheless. when aggregated, all three country groups show a significant gender gap. These entrepreneurship activity rates are listed by country in Table 1.

Entrepreneurial behavior can be characterized





Table 1. Prevalence Rates of Entrepreneurial Activity Acr	ross Countries by Gender 2007
---	-------------------------------

	Early Stage Entrepreneurial Activity (Nascent + New)		Established Business Owners		Overall Business Owners (Nascent + New + Established)	
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
Argentina	17.52%	11.34%	15.78%	4.16%	33.30%	15.50%
Austria	3.06%	1.84%	7.25%	4.78%	10.31%	6.61%
Belgium	4.30%	1.98%	1.86%	0.93%	6.16%	2.91%
Brazil	12.73%	12.71%	12.70%	7.24%	25.43%	19.95%
Chile	16.45%	10.43%	11.89%	5.59%	28.33%	16.02%
China	19.27%	13.43%	9.66%	7.04%	28.93%	20.47%
Colombia	26.91%	18.77%	15.49%	7.84%	42.41%	26.60%
Croatia	9.44%	5.13%	5.79%	2.67%	15.23%	7.80%
Denmark	6.21%	4.56%	8.54%	3.43%	14.75%	8.00%
Dominican Republic	: 18.91%	14.50%	8.96%	6.12%	27.88%	20.62%
Finland	8.96%	4.81%	10.31%	4.80%	19.27%	9.60%
France	4.14%	2.21%	2.52%	0.95%	6.66%	3.16%
Greece	7.96%	3.46%	14.59%	12.04%	22.56%	15.51%
Hong Kong	14.33%	5.82%	7.51%	3.75%	21.84%	9.56%
Hungary	9.29%	4.52%	5.88%	3.81%	15.17%	8.33%
Iceland	17.40%	7.44%	13.43%	3.98%	30.83%	11.429
India	9.51%	7.49%	8.69%	2.18%	18.21%	9.66%
Ireland	10.57%	5.87%	12.66%	5.38%	23.22%	11.25%
Israel	7.12%	3.75%	3.61%	1.10%	10.72%	4.84%
Italy	6.69%	3.30%	8.87%	2.17%	15.56%	5.48%
Japan	3.47%	5.22%	8.72%	8.57%	12.20%	13.79%
Kazakhstan	11.17%	7.64%	6.80%	4.80%	17.97%	12.449
Latvia	7.70%	1.41%	4.90%	2.02%	12.60%	3.43%
Netherlands	6.64%	3.70%	4.50% 8.59%	4.07%	15.24%	7.779
Norway	8.59%	4.28%	8.20%	3.50%	16.79%	7.78%
Peru	25.74%	4.20 <i>%</i> 26.06%	18.07%	12.40%	43.80%	38.46%
Portugal	23.74 <i>%</i> 11.70%	20.00 <i>%</i> 5.92%	9.79%	4.44%	43.80 % 21.49%	10.36%
Puerto Rico						
Romania	3.16%	2.97%	4.05%	0.89%	7.21%	3.87%
	4.95%	3.09%	3.34%	1.70%	8.30%	4.79%
Russia	3.79%	1.64%	1.63%	1.73%	5.41%	3.37%
Serbia	12.11%	5.06%	7.74%	2.83%	19.85%	7.88%
Slovenia	6.84%	2.68%	6.84%	2.31%	13.69%	4.99%
Spain	9.75%	5.48%	8.17%	4.57%	17.92%	10.06%
Sweden	5.78%	2.47%	6.87%	2.48%	12.65%	4.95%
Switzerland	7.59%	4.92%	8.56%	4.60%	16.15%	9.52%
Thailand	27.78%	25.95%	23.22%	19.47%	51.00%	45.42%
Turkey	8.65%	2.41%	9.47%	1.32%	18.12%	3.73%
United Kingdom	7.41%	3.60%	7.59%	2.55%	15.00%	6.15%
United States	11.98%	7.25%	6.47%	3.48%	18.45%	10.73%
Uruguay	17.33%	7.19%	8.63%	4.54%	25.96%	11.73%
Venezuela	23.50%	16.81%	5.87%	4.90%	29.37%	21.71%

depending upon the stage of venture activity. GEM distinguishes two broad categories of entrepreneurs—early stage and established—based upon the age of their businesses. Early stage entrepreneurs are those involved in owning and managing, alone or with others, a nascent business, or one that has been in operation for 42 months or less. By contrast, established entrepreneurs are those involved in owning and managing, alone or with others, a business that has successfully survived in the market beyond 42 months, as 3¹/₂ years is the approximate critical period within which a business is most likely to fail. These two categories are very important as they convey different information about the entrepreneurial landscape of a country. Early stage entrepreneurship indicates the dynamic entrepreneurial propensity of a country. In other words, it shows the percentage of population willing and able to undertake new venture creation. Established business ownership, instead, indicates the percentage of population actively involved in running businesses that have proven to be sustainable.

Across the 41 GEM countries participating in this study, low/middle-income countries such as Peru, Thailand, Colombia, and Venezuela exhibited the highest women's early stage entrepreneurial activity prevalence rates (26.2, 26.0, 18.8 and 16.8 percent respectively) followed closely by the Dominican Republic, China, Chile, and Brazil. Latvia and Russia, both European low/middle-income countries exhibited the lowest rates (1.4 and 1.6 percent, respectively) followed by Austria and Belgium, both high-income countries. The situation is similar when women's established business ownership is considered. In this case, the high-income countries of Puerto Rico, Belgium, and France exhibit the lowest rates (0.89, 0.93, and 0.95 percent respectively), and both the low/middle-income and high-income countries of Thailand, Portugal, and Greece exhibit the highest rates (23.2, 12.4, and 12.0 percent respectively). When established business ownership or overall business ownership is considered, there is no country in which the female ownership rate exceeds that of their male counterparts.

Examination of entrepreneurial behavior around the globe also yields a clear picture of a gender gap by stage of entrepreneurial activity. In all three country income groups, a significant gender gap exists for both early stage entrepreneurial participation and established business ownership, and this gender gap is greatest in the high-income country group, regardless of type of activity. In 2007, only in Japan and Peru are women more active in starting a business than men. Table 2 shows that, in the highincome group, men are almost twice as likely to be early stage entrepreneurs as women, and more than twice as likely to be established business owners as women. The Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income countries exhibit a narrower gender gap, particularly for early stage entrepreneurship. In these countries, the gender gap between male and female early stage entrepreneurs is 24.0 percent, but it widens to 47.1 percent for established business owners. Surprisingly, the gender gap in European and Asian low/middle-income countries is almost identical to the gender gap in high-income countries for early stage entrepreneurs (44.8 percent and 43.4 percent, respectively). Further, these two country groups have a gender gap for early stage entrepreneurship that is nearly double that found in the Latin American and Caribbean low/ middle-income countries. In the European and Asian low/middle-income countries and the higherincome countries the gender gap for established business owners in these country groups is 44.3 percent and 52.3 percent, respectively, which are quite similar to the Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income countries. These striking differences in low/middle-income country groups highlight the regional and cultural differences that may have the most impact on early stage entrepreneurship with respect to gender.

Table 2 also shows that there is an important difference between early stage and established entrepreneurial activity among women. While the low/middle-income groups both exhibit significantly higher rates of early stage entrepreneurial activity than established business ownership activity, the



WOMEN'S ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITY

group of high-income countries show less than 1 percent difference in the prevalence rate of women across these two business stages. High-income countries also show a greater overall likelihood that early stage entrepreneurs will become established entrepreneurs compared with both low/middle-income country groups. Whereas in high-income countries there is no gender difference in the survival rate of women's businesses versus those of men, in both of the low/middle-income country groups a gender difference is apparent and the likelihood of business survival beyond 42 months is lower for women than for men.



Table 2. Difference in Prevalence Rates Across Country Groups by Gender 2007

	Early Stage Entrepreneurial Activity (Nascent + New)		Established Business Owners		Overall Business Owners (Nascent + New + Established)	
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
Low/Middle-Income Countries Europe/Asia	11.70%	7.62%	8.19%	4.62%	19.89%	12.24%
Low/Middle-Income Countries Latin America/ Caribbean	19.55%	14.40%	12.21%	6.57%	31.76%	20.97%
High-Income Countries	8.17%	4.34%	7.91%	3.57%	16.08%	7.91%
Significant difference between country clusters	p < 0.0001	p < 0.0001	p < 0.0001	p < 0.0001	p < 0.0001	l p < 0.0001

ENTREPRENEURIAL MOTIVATION AND BUSINESS OUTCOMES

The GEM survey allows us to differentiate the motives underlying entrepreneurial behavior. The GEM framework labels those individuals who start a business to exploit a perceived business opportunity as opportunity entrepreneurs, and those who are, by contrast, pushed to start a business because all other options for work are either absent or unsatisfactory as necessity entrepreneurs. More than 95 percent of all respondents to the global GEM survey in the past three years are involved in entrepreneurial activities for two primary reasons: opportunity or necessity. Prevalence rates of entrepreneurship vary significantly by motivation between the low/middleincome country groups and high-income countries. That is, opportunity and necessity motivations influence entrepreneurs differently across country groups. Opportunity is the dominant motivation for most entrepreneurs regardless of gender across all GEM countries with the exception of Croatia, Hong Kong, Serbia, Turkey, and Uruguay where it is close to 50 percent for women entrepreneurs. Figure 1 shows the distribution of opportunity and necessity early stage female entrepreneurship for each country in our sample. It also shows that, in many countries, women may be nearly equally likely to be necessity or opportunity entrepreneurs.



Figure 1. Women's Entrepreneurial Motivation by Country 2007

WOMEN'S ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITY

WHY DOES FEMALE LEADERSHIP IN FINLAND SEEM TO CONTRIBUTE TO A COMPANY'S BOTTOM LINE?

Abridged and excerpted from *A Study from Finland: Female Leadership and Firm Profitability* by Annu Kotiranta, Anne Kovalainen, and Petri Rouvinen

Despite a gain in attention during the past two decades, women's entrepreneurship still does not receive much serious attention in debates concerning the link between entrepreneurship and economic growth. The reason, in part, is the lack of research linking women's business leadership to profitability. This Finnish study offers strong evidence that female corporate leadership and female representation on corporate boards are significantly positively linked to several measures of firm profitability. The results indicate that a company led by a female CEO is, on average, slightly more than a percentage point—in practice about 10 percent more profitable than a corresponding company led by a male CEO. This observation holds even after taking into account size differences and a number other factors possibly affecting profitability. The share of female board members also has a similar positive impact. These findings are significant and important not only from a statistical and research perspective but also from a business standpoint.

The findings suggest that a firm may gain a competitive advantage over its peers by identifying and eliminating the obstacles to women's advancement to top management. While there is, on average, a positive correlation with female leadership and profitability, a too straightforward and wrong conclusion

Figure A1. Profitability Differences Between Companies Led by Women and Men

(adjusted return on assets; limited companies employing at least 10 persons and operating in Finland in 2003)



Sources: Statistics Finland, Asiakastieto Oy, and calculations by the authors.



Finland continued

would be that the current male leaders should be replaced by women and that this would improve firms' profitability. The focus should rather be on the numerous and often difficult-to-observe mechanisms and networks that favor men or hinder women from climbing the executive ladder. Genderneutral career opportunities are—besides being "fair"—also in the best interest of companies.

The target population, compiled by Statistics Finland, comprises of Finnish limited companies employing at least 10 persons in 2003. The employed sample covers 91 percent of the target population. The sample is even internationally the most extensive and representative firm-level data used in gender research.

Of the sample businesses, 7.6 percent have a female CEO and 7.1 percent have a female chairman of the board. On average, 22.3 percent of the board members are female. Because the gender of the board's chairman does not, according to our empirical analysis, have a significant effect, this study will focus on female CEOs and on the share of women on corporate boards. Several indicators of business profitability were examined in this study: return on assets (the primary indicator), return on investments, and the operating margin.

Is female leadership correlated with financial success?

The findings suggest that this is indeed the case. A simple comparison of respective (unconditional) means reveals that businesses managed by women and men are different in several respects (see Fig. A1):

The average profitability of firms in the sample is 12.3 percent. The average profitability of firms with a female CEO is 14.0 percent. The difference (1.8 percentage points) with a male CEOs firms' average of 12.2 percent is statistically very significant (1 percent level).

The average profitability of companies having at

least half of female board members is 14.7 percent. The difference (3.1 percentage points) with respect to other firms' 11.5 percent is statistically very significant (1 percent level).

Thus, when comparing direct (unconditional) means, firms led by women are 2–3 percentage points—from slightly more than 10 to well more than 20 percent—more profitable than businesses led by men. This in itself is not, however, a solid basis for drawing conclusions, as firms led by men and women also differ in several other respects:

In all of the examined dimensions, firms with female leadership have less export activity, they are less likely to be a part of a business group, and they are less capital-intensive. Statistically significant differences are observed in a number of other variables; although, their directions vary according to the leadership dimension considered. The findings show that female leadership and a firm's profitability have a positive correlation that is not explained by observable firm-specific and sector-specific factors.

In order to isolate the effect of female leadership, a multidimensional regression analysis was employed to control for other factors possibly affecting firm profitability. After controlling for the other factors, the positive conditional correlation between female leadership and profitability is expectedly somewhat weaker than the unconditional one (see Fig. A2). It nevertheless remains positive as well as statistically and qualitatively significant:

A firm with a female CEO is slightly more than a percentage point—in practice about 10 percent— more profitable than an otherwise similar firm with a male CEO.

The effect of the share of female board members is similar; a firm with a gender-balanced board is on average about 10 percent more profitable than a similar firm with an all-male board.

Examining female CEOs and female board member shares within the same model shows that they have their own independent effects on profitability.



Women's Entrepreneurial Activity

Finland continued

Figure A2. "Pure" Impact of Female Leadership on Firm Profitability

(limited liability companies employing at least 10 persons and operating in Finland in 2003)

Profitability impact after taking into account other factors:



Sources: Statistics Finland, Asiakastieto Oy, and calculations by the authors. *** Statistically extremely significant (1% level). *** Statistically extremely significant (5% level). Interpretation of board share coefficients: completely female vs. male board.

It should be emphasized, however, that what was uncovered is indeed a correlation; it is not a causal relationship from female leadership to firm profitability or vice versa. Due to data limitations, we also are forced to be somewhat vague on the individual- and (unobserved) firm-specific factors that might drive these findings. These issues are among the most important avenues for further research.

Releasing women from the aquarium

The observed positive and statistically significant correlation between female leadership and profitability is an interesting and important finding for both the research and business communities.

Unfortunately, we cannot shed light on causal relationships underlying our findings. Data permitting, one should consider a wide range of personal and sociocultural factors. Even so, several conclusions can be drawn.

The possible explanations for the correlation fall into one or more of the following four categories:

- 1. Generally speaking women may be better leaders than men (adjusted for the executive compensations of the respective groups).
- 2. Upon advancing toward top management, women may be faced with more harsh selection (due to, e.g., sex discrimination)



Finland continued

making them a more exclusive and thus on average better group as compared to men in top management.

- Women may seek management positions in, or may be selected to lead, more profitable businesses.
- Both female leadership and profitability could be connected to some third (unobserved) factor.

In the case of the two first categories above, women cause better business performance via their qualities and actions. In the third category, the causality runs from better performance to female leadership; in case of the fourth category, unobserved factor(s) mislead research efforts.

Does some third factor account for both female leadership and firm profitability?

Unobserved factors of female leaders and their firms, in part, explain the observed correlation. As discussed in prior literature, female leadership might be more broadly connected to the cultural diversity and multidimensionality of a business. Indeed, our further (preliminary) analysis suggests that corporate boards with a balanced gender composition might have the highest correlation with a firm's profitability.

The connection between a firm's multidimensionality and its profitability is a complex one: it seems likely that only a sufficiently tolerant and flexible organization is able to use the competitive advantage brought about by multidimensionality. If an organization is rigid, it is unable to question old ideas and welcome new ones stemming from heterogeneity.

Female leadership may be connected to good corporate governance and management practices. Observing women also at the top of the corporate hierarchy may indicate that advancement and appointments in these organizations are based on competence and merits, not on traditions and established conventions. Furthermore, it seems only logical that the compositions of top management and corporate boards should reflect the diversity in firms' employment and customer bases in terms of gender.

It may be that several factors, from so-called natural differences in values and preferences of men and women all the way to educational segregation, lead to some sort of—although certainly smaller than at present—gender imbalance in business leadership. If this is indeed the case, the ultimate objective should depart from a perfect gender balance.

Women to the top!

Business decisions do not respect the logic of democracy or altruistic striving for gender equality. Business owners and those representing their interests are of course concerned about the matter in the name of corporate social responsibility. Gender equality might be listed among the corporate values, but ultimately only its connection to financial success ensures their interest.

The findings reveal a positive and significant correlation between female leadership and firm profitability. Even if they do not prove causality, the findings have several important implications, suggesting that a firm may gain a competitive advantage over its peers by identifying and eliminating the obstacles to women's advancement to top management. Gender-neutral career opportunities are—besides being "fair"—also in the best interest of companies.





Table 3. Ratio of Opportunity to Necessity Early Stage Entrepreneurship by Country and Gender

	Male Opportunity to Necessity Ratio	Female Opportunity to Necessity Ratio	Female Opportunity to Necessity Ranking
Serbia	1.45	0.32	1
Turkey	1.39	0.46	2
Croatia	2.04	0.77	3
Uruguay	2.53	0.77	4
Colombia	1.73	0.91	5
Hong Kong	2.59	0.94	6
Latvia	5.64	1.02	7
China	1.57	1.11	8
Argentina	2.00	1.24	9
Brazil	2.00	1.50	10
Russia	4.66	1.54	11
Hungary	3.07	1.57	12
Venezuela	2.63	1.60	13
France	2.63	1.62	14
Israel	3.36	1.66	15
Kazakhstan	2.96	1.83	16
India	2.09	1.84	17
Dominican Republic		1.84	18
Chile	5.13	2.34	19
Peru	2.86	2.45	20
Thailand	2.30	2.53	21
Romania	5.00	2.63	22
Japan	1.50	2.83	23
UK: All Regions	6.09	2.90	24
Sweden	6.00	2.93	25
Italy Sector	5.33	2.96	26
Spain	5.25 4.82	2.96 3.01	27 28
Unted States Switzerland	4.82 5.34	3.30	28 29
Puerto Rico	3.66	3.36	30
Finland	8.11	3.64	31
Slovenia	10.44	3.83	32
Netherlands	6.30	3.88	33
Iceland	9.92	4.04	34
Portugal	10.10	4.90	35
Greece	12.80	5.38	36
Ireland	11.71	5.99	37
Austria	12.00	6.84	38
Belgium	19.00	9.14	39
Norway	29.00	12.91	40
Denmark	28.00	17.69	41

Table 3 shows the ratio of opportunity to necessity driven early stage entrepreneurship for women for all countries in our sample and the corresponding country rank for this ratio. The higher the ratio, the more that women in a particular country are motivated by the desire to take advantage of a recognized opportunity, as opposed to being driven by nonexistent or unsatisfactory alternative employment options. Denmark and Norway exhibit the highest relative rates of opportunity motivation for women's early stage entrepreneurship, with opportunity to necessity motivation ratios of 17.69 and 12.91 respectively. At the other end of the ranking, we find Serbia and Turkey exhibiting the highest relative level of necessity motivated early stage entrepreneurship for women, with ratios of 0.32 and 0.46 respectively. Overall, early stage women entrepreneurs in the higher-income countries are more likely to be driven by opportunity in venture creation, with the exception of Hong Kong, than the early stage women entrepreneurs in low/middleincome countries.

Table 4 confirms that the ratio of opportunity to necessity-driven motives for starting a business are generally more favorable for women in high-income countries than in low/middle-income countries. Only the Latin American and Caribbean low/middleincome country group exhibits a significant difference in this ratio by gender (p < 0.05), whereas neither the European and Asian low/middle-income country group nor the high-income country group do. Further, there are significant differences (p < 0.05) with respect to the female opportunity to necessity ratio among all three country groups but males exhibit a different pattern. The opportunity to necessity ratio for men shows no statistically significant difference between the two low/middleincome country groups but does show a significant difference between each of the two low/middleincome country groups and the high-income group. In other words, the impact of country income and the context of region and culture may be more nuanced with respect to the motivations of women entrepreneurs than it is for men.



Table 4. Country Group Differences in Opportunity to Necessity Early Stage Entrepreneurship by Gender

	Male Opportunity Entrepreneurship	Female Opportunity Entrepreneurship	Male Necessity Entrepreneurship	Female Necessity Entrepreneurship
Low/Middle-Income Countries Europe and Asia	7.35%	4.35%	4.50%	2.22%
Low/Middle-Income Countries Latin America and Caribbean	12.38%	7.51%	7.51%	5.33%
High-Income Countries	6.85%	3.56%	1.18%	0.83%

	Male Opportunity to Necessity Ratio	Female Opportunity to Necessity Ratio
Low/Middle-Income Countries Europe and Asia	1.63	1.96
Low/Middle-Income Countries Latin America and Caribbean	1.65	1.41
High-Income Countries	5.81	4.28

ENTREPRENEURIAL SCOPE: SECTORAL DISTRIBUTION AND GROWTH POTENTIAL

The focus and potential of women's entrepreneurial activity is guite varied worldwide. The scope of entrepreneurial activity may be understood by looking at industry sector and growth potential characterized by the use of technology and level of competition. Women's businesses exhibit many similar patterns to those of men but some differences are apparent. Entrepreneurs can contribute toward economic development through their choice of products and services offered and the uniqueness of that offering in the marketplace. In some contexts, this means that entrepreneurs have the opportunity to be important agents of innovation. GEM asks entrepreneurs and business owners how they evaluate the newness of their product or service, the competition they face, and the novelty of their product or service technology. These answers represent an individual entrepreneur's perceptions of her or his own situation, and as such are inevitably context-specific and vary greatly among and between countries.

GEM uses the International Standard Industry

Codes (ISIC) to analyze the sectors in which entrepreneurial activity and business ownership take place. Women entrepreneurs create and run businesses across all of the broad industrial sectors of extraction, transformation, business services, and consumer-oriented products, as do men. Consistent with the pattern for all entrepreneurs, Figure 2 shows that the largest share of women entrepreneurs are active in consumer-oriented activities, while extractive activities exhibit the smallest share. The industrial focus of women's firms differs somewhat from that of male counterparts with a significantly higher percentage of women's ventures in the consumeroriented sector compared with men's for both early stage entrepreneurs (60.3 percent vs. 37.0 percent) and established entrepreneurs (50.7 percent vs. 30.4 percent). Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income countries are the locale for the highest level of women's participation in consumer-oriented industry (74.3 percent) while the high-income countries show somewhat higher rates of women's participation in extractive, transforming, and business services sectors (52.1 percent).



Figure 2. Sectoral Distribution of Female Entrepreneurship by Country Group and Business Stage



ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL ROLES FOR FEMALE ENTREPRENEURSHIP IN LATVIA

Excerpted from *Women and Entrepreneurship in Latvia* by Friederike Welter and Susanne Kolb. 2006. TeliaSonera Institute Discussion Paper No. 4. Stockholm School of Economics in Riga.

Entrepreneurship plays an important role in modernizing and transforming economies and societies [Smallbone and Welter (2001)]. Entrepreneurship is generally said to contribute to innovation. New enterprises also create employment, if only for the individual entrepreneur at the start, thus adding to income and family welfare. For women, becoming an entrepreneur was often one of the few possibilities left to them to earn an income after socialism collapsed, as they were the first to be fired and the last to be rehired in the transition toward a market economy. Transformation to market economies deprived a majority of women in the former Soviet states of their paid jobs and of most social security provided under socialism [e.g., Degtjar (2000), Hübner et al. (1993), Moghadam (1992), Lokar (2000)]. This often had the effect of reinforcing the traditional gender relations that persisted even during Soviet times, despite an ideological commitment to promoting female emancipation through their labour participation [Kerblay, (1977)].

In Western economies, self-employment and small business ownership appear as one means for women to gain greater economic and social independence, enabling them to combine family and work. However, even in mature market economies the level of female entrepreneurship typically falls considerably below that of the male population [Carter (2000)]. In a transition context, it would appear that starting and running an own business or becoming self-employed might be the only possibility left for women to overcome increasing discrimination on the labour market during the transition period and to alleviate poverty [Moghadam (1992)]. In this context, female entrepreneurship is important for countries such as Latvia, not only as a solution to unemployment, but also in order to take advantage of the potential contribution by female entrepreneurs to economic and social transition. Businesses owned and operated by women are typically smaller than those of their male counterparts, tending to dominate in sectors with low barriers for entry in terms of human and financial capital, but high turnover rates, leaving them potentially more vulnerable. This might be aggravated in an uncertain or even hostile business environment where the institutional infrastructure remains poor.

With regard to the economic role of female entrepreneurs, several research studies [see for example the country studies on the former East Germany, Khyrgyztan, Lithuania, Moldova, Ukraine, Uzbekistan in Welter et al. 2006a; also Welter et al. (2005)] show that some have contributed to transition and economic development through setting up activities new to the economy, and manufacturing goods as a substitute for imports. Moreover, they provide employment and earning possibilities both for themselves and for others, which promotes social inclusion. All this contributes to regeneration of the national economy. Additionally, female entrepreneurship has fostered social change and alleviated some of the negative effects of transformation by offering positive role models and enhancing the image of female entrepreneurship as such.

With regard to the social roles of female entrepreneurs, their main contribution consists of creating job opportunities. Typically, female entrepreneurs are more likely to employ women, thus providing jobs not only for themselves but for other women, so helping to reduce the effect of discrimination against women in the labour market. In addition, reducing female unemployment assists in the fight against trafficking of women, which is known as one of the most urgent issues in the Ukraine [Isakova et al. (2006)] and Moldova [Aculai et al. (2006)].



WOMEN'S ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITY

Latvia continued

Moreover, for Moldova female entrepreneurship plays a role in reducing emigration among the younger workforce [Aculai et al. (2006)]. Finally, female entrepreneurs serve as role models for younger generations, demonstrating new employment [(self-employment) opportunities (e.g., in Uzbekistan as discussed in Welter et al. (2006b)].

Factors Influencing Female Entrepreneurship

Institutional and legal contexts play an important role in female entrepreneurship, influencing its nature and extent as well as its potential economic contribution [Aidis et al. (2006) and Welter et al. (2002)]. Whilst gender equality is formally inscribed in most constitutions, its application throughout the economy and society might still lead to overt or covert discrimination against women. Whilst overt discrimination remains a topic, especially where wage gaps are concerned, covert constraints that express themselves through the institutional environment might nowadays play an even more important role.

Female entrepreneurship from the standpoint of labour market participation depends not only on the availability of market opportunities. It also is influenced to a large extent by the prevailing institutional environment, which includes the value that society attaches to female employment. In Western economies, increased labour market participation of women has occurred only since the 1970s, as Birley (1989) describes it: "Until very recently, the major role of women was seen in most Western economies by both men and women to be that of wife and mother. Indeed, even should they take employment this was almost always in addition to their role as homemaker." In this context, family, social, and tax policies could influence female entrepreneurship. For example, social and tax policies could influence female entrepreneurs with respect to the level of social security connected to entrepreneurship. This is an important consideration for potential female

entrepreneurs, who also might consider entrepreneurship for family reasons as they strive to combine child-raising and family responsibilities with earning an income. It takes on additional importance in a Post-Soviet context, where the Soviet support systems for child care collapsed after transition.

While formal institutions such as laws and policies can create opportunity fields for entrepreneurship, informal institutions such as values, norms, and the general attitude of a society toward entrepreneurship can strongly influence the collective and individual perception of entrepreneurial opportunities [Welter and Smallbone (2003)]. Formal institutions mainly influence the extent to which (female) entrepreneurship is able to develop, and the characteristics of their businesses, as discussed in Welter et al. (2003). Cultural norms and values help to shape the way into entrepreneurship and more specifically influence an individual's propensity for entrepreneurship. In this context, gender could represent an additional dimension. The evolving institutional framework might constrain women's formal integration into the emerging market economy due to redefined and changed gender roles, thus restricting their access to the external resources that are needed in order to realize a venture as well as ascribing housebound roles, which would conflict with entrepreneurial activities.

Distinctiveness of the Post-Soviet Context

Within the post-Soviet context, the background to female entrepreneurship is distinct from that of its male counterpart. This results from the roles ascribed to women during Soviet times and the consequences for entering entrepreneurship [Welter et al. (2003)]. Ashwin (2000) described the Soviet state as leaving a "paradoxical legacy" for women, as it fostered gender equality and women's participation in the labour market, thus producing strong and independent women, who on the other hand were nevertheless responsible for household and



Latvia continued

family work. From the 1930s onward, a shift occurred toward a "double burden" of women's responsibility, with the state placing on women the responsibility for simultaneously and successfully performing the roles of worker and mother. At the same time, men were looked upon as agents of political, economic, and social change and progress. Within families, the patriarchal order prevailed, with women in charge of family budgets, household activities, raising children, and serving their husbands. The Second World War and the post-war period only added to the double burden, since women needed to work harder in order to replace men serving in the army or lost in the war. During the transition period, women's double burden was further aggravated when family support systems collapsed.

Moreover, although Soviet states had a high share of female labour, women still experienced difficulties in breaking through the "glass ceiling." This left women with a lack of "high-level" network contacts from Soviet times, disadvantaging them in the early stages of transition, where contacts with



Prevalence of Early Stage Entrepreneurship By Gender

the administration and politicians could help entrepreneurs to work around legal deficiencies in getting started, as became apparent in the privatization process in many former transition countries. On the other hand, research also emphasizes that female entrepreneurs may have enjoyed greater potential access to social capital, as they were used to managing shortages through barter and exchange of favours [Bruno (1997)]. However, some research demonstrates that although well-versed in using networks and networking, women entrepreneurs apparently lack the level of contacts that men can draw on [Welter et al. (2004)]. This also is confirmed by studies showing a dominance of kinship and strong ties in women's networks and a lack of businessrelated and weak ties [see Renzulli et al. (2000)].

All former Soviet countries display a diversity of routes into entrepreneurship. Due to their lack of 'high-level' networks and as a result of existing qualifications, women often became entrepreneurs through small-scale privatization of shops, restaurants, and pharmacies. Further, women often set up enterprises de novo in sectors that were underdeveloped during Soviet times. Examples here would be services, including business-oriented services. Moreover, female "shuttle" traders played (and in Central Asian countries continue to play) an important role during early stages of transition: They imported and sold consumer goods or raw materials missing in the domestic market. For Lithuania and Khyrgyzstan respectively, Aidis (2006) and Öczan (2006) describe the characteristics and businesses of these types of female entrepreneurs, illustrating the important role of bazaars and open markets for one particular type of female entrepreneurship.

The extent to which female entrepreneurs in a Post-Soviet environment are pushed into business, by a need to find some way of supporting themselves and their families, has led some authors to suggest that a majority are better described as "proprietors" rather than "entrepreneurs." Entrepreneurs



WOMEN'S ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITY

Latvia continued

are characterized by the reinvestment of business profits to achieve business growth and ultimately further capital accumulation, while proprietors tend to consume the surpluses generated [Scase, (2003)]. This implies that a large proportion of female business owners in Eastern European countries would fall into the "proprietorship" category, at least when their businesses are started. However, Smallbone and Welter (2003) caution against such a simplistic perspective, instead emphasizing the learning capacity of individuals over time particularly where considerable human capital is involved, as well as possible changes in external circumstances. These can lead to changes in the aspirations of individuals and their ability to spot and exploit new business opportunities.

A copy of the full discussion paper can be obtained from the Stockholm School of Economics Riga Library.







³ For a more detailed discussion see Welter et al. (2003, 2005, 2006a).

Consistent with the entrepreneurial focus of their male counterparts, the majority of women's businesses offer products or services that are not new to customers and only a small fraction claim that what they offer is new to all customers. Innovative products and services are more often offered by early stage women entrepreneurs than established women entrepreneurs and there is no statistically significant difference in this pattern among the three country groups or between early stage and established business owners. Across all three country groups, it is rare to find either men or women entrepreneurs offering very innovative products and services.

With respect to technology innovation, the majority of women entrepreneurs in the low/middleincome country groups claim to be using the latest or newer technologies, regardless of venture stage, more often than their counterparts in the highincome country group although this difference is not statistically significant. Depending on the level of economic development of a country, the perception

of standard versus innovative technology can vary dramatically. This may mean that women entrepreneurs in low/middle-income countries are starting from a comparatively lower available standard and therefore have more room and opportunities to upgrade and modernize their technologies, potentially enhancing the growth potential of their ventures. Figure 3 shows that most women entrepreneurs are engaged in marketplace competition, with those who are established business owners experiencing the greatest level of competition. Overall, 67.2 percent of established women business owners say they face many competitors compared with 48.6 percent of early stage women entrepreneurs. The difference between early stage women entrepreneurs and established women business owners may reflect the success that established businesses have created, attracting competition from others. Alternatively, it also may be that early stage entrepreneurs may not yet be aware of the level of competition they will face as they launch and grow their ventures.





Figure 3. Intensity of Expected Competition for Women's Businesses by Business Stage

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC FACTORS INFLUENCING WOMEN'S ENTREPRENEURIAL BEHAVIOR

Research has shown that age, work status, education, income, social ties, and perceptions are all significant socioeconomic factors in a person's decision to start a business. GEM provides insight into the demographic, economic and perceptual characteristics of women entrepreneurs worldwide. While the relationships among these characteristics tend to be consistent around the globe, there are some differences among the high-income and low/middle-income country groups.

Age

The 2007 GEM data confirm results found in the past and reveal that patterns in entrepreneurial activity do not vary greatly from country to country with respect to age. Further, the pattern of age distribution of men and women entrepreneurs is similar and comparable regardless of country or stage of entrepreneurship. Figure 4 shows female entrepreneurial prevalence rates by age groups and stage of entrepreneurship in the three country groups. In the low/middle-income country groups, women are most likely to be early stage entrepreneurs between the ages of 25 to 34, and to become established business owners between the ages of 35 to 44. In high-income countries, the age window for women's entrepreneurial activity broadens, with early stage entrepreneurial activity most likely among women ages 25 to 44 and established business ownership most likely among women 35 to 54. The age distribution pattern of women follows an inverted U-shaped curve, similar to men, with the peak in the 25 to 34 and 35 to 44 age groups. Interestingly, in the Latin American and Caribbean low/middleincome group, the 35 to 44 age group (early stage entrepreneurial activity) is the largest, differing (but not significantly) from the other two groups. Established business owners in all three groups are predominantly in the 45 to 54 age group.



Figure 4. Age Distribution of Women Entrepreneurs by Country Groups and Business Stage





Figure 5. Female Early Stage Entrepreneurial Activity by Work Status and Country Groups

Work Status

Regardless of gender or country group, employment matters to entrepreneurial activity. The likelihood of being involved in entrepreneurial activity is three to four times higher for those who also are employed in a wage job (whether full or part time) compared to those who are not working, are retired, or are students. This suggests that working may provide access to resources, social capital, and ideas that may aid in establishing an entrepreneurial venture. Figure 5 shows the employment patterns of women involved in entrepreneurial activity across country groups. The pattern is similar among the three country groups and across gender, with the greatest entrepreneurial activity occurring among women working full time. Nonetheless, the impact of regional and cultural context is apparent viewing the activity of those women entrepreneurs in the Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income group. Overall, this group of countries shows a much larger

percentage of women starting companies, regardless of employment, likely a reflection of the higher rate of necessity entrepreneurship among women in the Latin American and Caribbean region. Finally, the distributions of women involved in both early stage and established business ownership who are employed full time and part time are not significantly different across country groups.

Education

While educational level typically influences individuals' opportunities for employment and thereby has the potential to indirectly impact women's entrepreneurial behavior, the direct influence of education on women's entrepreneurial activity is complex and varies among countries. Figure 6 shows the relationship between educational attainment and entrepreneurial activity among women in the three country groups. On average, women entrepreneurs in highincome countries are better educated than those in



WOMEN'S ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITY



Figure 6. Female Educational Attainments by Country Group and Business Stage

low/middle-income countries. In high-income countries, more than half of women entrepreneurs have secondary degrees, and more than one-quarter have graduate degrees. In low/middle-income countries, the percent of women early stage and established business owners with less than a secondary degree is 34.1 percent and 40.4 percent, respectively, for Latin American and Caribbean group and 39.2 percent and 39.7 percent, respectively, for the European and Asian group. In the aggregate, the rates of less than secondary education range from 47 percent to 85 percent worse than is the case for women entrepreneurs in higher-income countries, depending upon stage of entrepreneurship and country group.

Surprisingly, in all country groups, the level of educational attainment is not consistently higher for women who are established business owners than for women who are early stage entrepreneurs. In fact, except for women with only some secondary education, the level of education is the same or higher for early stage entrepreneurs compared with established business owners. While none of these differences is significant, this pattern was not seen in earlier GEM women's reports and may indicate a generally higher level of education for women in all countries.

Household Income

A considerable challenge faced by all entrepreneurs globally is access to capital to start a business. In all three country groups, women and men in households with the highest incomes are more likely to be involved in early stage entrepreneurial activity. Figure 7 shows how household income influences women's entrepreneurial activity, varying based upon stage of entrepreneurship and country region. Rates of activity rise with an increase in household income for established business owners in all country groups and for all women entrepreneurs, regardless of business stage, in the high-income countries. By contrast, low versus middle percentile household income is not a significant influence on the rates of early stage entrepreneurship in either of the low/middle-income country groups.

Consistent with other findings in this report,





Figure 7. Women Entrepreneurs Household Income by Country Groups and Business Stage

early stage entrepreneurial activity is highest among women in the Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income countries regardless of household income level and these rates are four times higher than the high-income country group and significantly different (p < 0.01) from either of the other two country groups. The European and Asian low/middle-income country group has slightly higher rates, a two-fold increase over the highincome countries, but only the rate of early stage entrepreneurship in the lowest percentile is significantly different (p < 0.05) than the rate in the high-income countries.

Considering the interactions of employment, income level, and education, some interesting results appear. For those with a household income in the lowest group, having a job makes a woman more than three times as likely to be involved in early stage entrepreneurship than if she is not employed (74.3 percent and 21.6 percent respectively). And, given only some secondary education, a working woman is nearly two times more likely to be involved in early stage entrepreneurship than a nonworking woman (17.6 percent and 9.9 percent respectively). Furthermore, considering only higher educational attainments within household income groups does not yield an increase in female early stage entrepreneurship; that is it is employment that seems to matter most. These findings may suggest that for the poorer and less educated, work experience provides a valuable platform toward starting a business.



WHAT THE NUMBERS TELL: THE IMPACT OF HUMAN, SOCIAL, AND FINANCIAL CAPITAL ON ENTREPRENEURIAL ENTRY IN TURKEY

Abridged and excerpted from *What the Numbers Tell: The Impact of Human, Social, and Financial Capital on Entrepreneurial Entry in Turkey* by Dilek Cetindamar, Vishal K. Gupta, Esra E. Karadeniz, Nilufer Egrican

Resources and Country Context

Because social structures vary across countries, the degree to which resource availability affects women entrepreneurs depends greatly on the country context. Developing countries present an interesting context for examining the influence of resource availability on men and women interested in entrepreneurship because findings from data collected from around the world reveal that despite a general resource-poor environment in these countries, the rate of entrepreneurship among women in these countries is usually higher than that in developed countries (Bosma and Harding, 2007). Among developing countries, Turkey offers a unique perspective on the issue of women's entrepreneurship (Hisrich and Ozturk, 1999). Though women have played an active role in Turkish social and political life since the early 1930s (when women in many European countries did not have the right to vote), they have only recently become active in Turkish business and commerce (Ufuk and Ozgen, 2001). The Turkish population is predominantly Muslim and in most Muslim countries it is inappropriate for women to work in the "public" sphere (Tucker, 2007), but Turkey has maintained a strong secular tradition in government and society (It is the only predominantly Muslim secular country in the world) and men and women are considered legally equal (Wasti, 1998). In fact, the Turkish government actively encourages entrepreneurial activity among women (Hisrich and Ozturk, 1999).

Turkey, a developing country, is strategically located at the crossroads of Europe and Asia and is

considered to be a geographical and cultural bridge between East and West (Ozkan and Lajunen, 2005). Recently, Turkey has witnessed a period of tremendous economic growth and development (average 7 percent annually) for the last five years. There has been a dramatic shift from a predominantly agriculture-based economy to an increasingly industrialized and service-based economy (SPO, 2006).

Historically, private enterprise has not been a strong characteristic of the Turkish people. Today, Turkish industry is rapidly changing in favor of private enterprises, but Turkish firms generally are small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) operating in the traditional manufacturing sector rather than in new technology-based sectors. Although the percentage of work force employed by small and medium enterprises accounts for about 50 percent of the employment (SPO, 2006), Turkish SME's only have a total share of 6 percent in total investments, 8 percent in exports, and 3¹/2 percent in loans (Kozan, Oksoy, and Özsoy, 2005).

Scholars have argued that Middle Eastern countries such as Turkey are part of a distinct Arabic cluster which is socially, historically, and religiously very different from the rest of the world (Gupta, Hanges, and Dorfman, 2002). Countries in this cluster (e.g. Turkey, Kuwait, Qatar, Morocco, and Egypt) are predominantly Muslim, have been influenced by both the Ottoman and European empires, and tend to be highly group-oriented, hierarchical, and maledominated (Kabasakal and Bodur, 2002). However, even within the Arab world, Turkey has a unique gender egalitarian culture dating to the pre-Islamic period and Turkish women seem to have a stronger position compared to women in other Arabic countries, as well as, in many Western and Eastern countries (Kabasakal and Bodur, 2002).



Turkey continued

Three Forms of Capital: Human, Social, and Financial

The GEM Turkey team has found strong evidence that three forms of capital—human, social, and financial—are important for entry into entrepreneurship. We found that the most specific type of explicit human capital, formal education, increased the likelihood of entry into entrepreneurship. We also found that one specific type of social capital (Wright et al., 2001), family social capital, as measured by family size, positively impacted entry into entrepreneurship.

Kim et al. (2006) examined the impact of cultural capital on entrepreneurial entry. They define cultural capital as parental involvement in entrepreneurship. While their hypothesis was not confirmed by activity in the United States, it is more likely to be confirmed in countries such as Turkey, where attachment to family is stronger and more interdependent, thus making the likelihood of becoming an entrepreneur stronger if a parent is involved in entrepreneurship (Ashkanasy, Trevor-Roberts, and Earnshaw, 2002). We believe cultural capital may be an important form of capital and encourage more research on the role of cultural capital in the entrepreneurial process.

Social Capital and Family Social Capital

Social capital refers to the "the ability of actors to secure benefits by virtue of membership in social networks or other social structures" (Portes, 1998: 6). It focuses on the characteristics of relationships that people have and the norms that govern these relationships (Schuller, 2001). The accepted wisdom in the literature is that social capital enhances the likelihood of expressive outcomes, such as higher life satisfaction and better mental health, and instrumental outcomes, such as better jobs and faster promotions (Lin, 2000).

Family social capital is a special type of social capital that occurs in family relations (Parcen and

Menaghan, 1993). It refers to the "relations between children and parents and, when families include other members', relationships with them as well" (Coleman, 1988: S110). Cooperation within a family stems not just from pure self-interest, but from a greater moral order in which the accumulation of obligations among members builds a kind of social cohesion that may be described as "household communism" (Weber, 1978). Kovacheva (2004) found that in societies characterized by lower levels of other forms of social capital (e.g. countries in southeast Europe such as Bulgaria), family social capital becomes very important for people's life and career development.

Because family members have a greater stake in the growth and success of the business, they are usually more productive than nonfamily labor when hourly wages are low. Family members are generally more trustworthy in matters involving sensitive transactions where the risk of opportunism and malfeasance is high. Similarly, family members can be trusted in under-the-counter transactions aimed at evading taxes and other government regulations that are common in many parts of the world. Thus, family social capital can be beneficial to people interested in entering entrepreneurship.

Relationship Between Becoming an Entrepreneur and Family Social Capital

Our study proposed that family social capital is positively related to the likelihood of becoming an entrepreneur. We found that family social capital (measured as family size) had a significant association with likelihood of becoming an entrepreneur. In other words, family social capital has a positive impact on the likelihood of becoming an entrepreneur.

It also was proposed that the relationship between family social capital and likelihood of becoming an entrepreneur will be different for men and women. We examined the relationship between



WOMEN'S ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITY

Turkey continued

family social capital and likelihood of becoming an entrepreneur for men and women separately. The investigation revealed that there was a significant relationship between family social capital and likelihood of becoming an entrepreneur for both men and women, but there are gender differences in the strength of the relationship.

Men who have a family size of seven or eight are significantly more likely to become an entrepreneur compared to men who have less than three people in their family. For women, only families with more than five people compared to the base family size significantly increase the likelihood of becoming an entrepreneur. Women who have five and six people in their family are forced to find new means of revenue for the family while this impact starts to lose its significance when family size gets larger since women continue to be the main child care provider in most Turkish families. At the same time, men continue to be seen as family breadwinners responsible for providing economically for their family, which may explain the finding of a stronger relationship between family social capital and the likelihood of becoming entrepreneur as family social capital

increases. Therefore, the evidence shows that the relationship between social capital and likelihood of becoming an entrepreneur was different for men and women.

The economies in developing countries present a unique context for testing the paradigm boundaries of a gendered perspective on entry into entrepreneurship because gender differences in the rate of entrepreneurial activity have been found to be less in the developing countries (Bosma and Harding, 2007). Our results, based on data collected from Turkey, revealed that the impact of human capital and family social capital on entry into entrepreneurship varies by gender.

The discussion of the impact of additional factors on entrepreneurial entry in Turkey is presented in the full paper. To request a copy, please contact a member of the GEM Turkey team. Contact details are on the GEM Web site, www.gemconsortium.org, under national teams.



The Distribution of Employment According to Work Position in Turkey

Year	Female unpaid family workers/ total employed women (percent)	Wage, salaried women workers/ total employed women (percent)	Women entrepreneurs/ total employed women (percent)	Women entrepreneurs/ total entrepreneurs (percent)	Women living in rural area (precent)	Women living in urbanarea (percent)
1988	70.2	18.1	7.1	7.1	79.3	20.7
1990	69.2	18.2	9.1	9.0	83.1	16.9
1995	65.0	21.4	9.0	8.7	72.9	27.1
2000	52.1	30.8	12.6	11.3	64.3	35.7
2004	49.8	33.4	11.0	9.9	59.7	40.3

Source: TÜIK, 2005. (www.die.gov.tr, retrived: 17.03.2005).
CHARACTERISTICS OF WOMEN ENTREPRENEURS AND FACTORS INFLUENCING PERCEPTIONS ABOUT THE ENTREPRENEURIAL ENVIRONMENT

Scholars agree that opportunity recognition, social capital, and self-concept may be important influencers on entrepreneurial behavior. GEM collects data with respect to individual perceptions of the market and risk factors with respect to starting a new business. Participants were asked whether they personally knew other entrepreneurs, to what extent they saw good opportunities, whether they believed they had the requisite knowledge for business startup, and whether fear of failure would prevent them from business startup. Table 5 shows the percentage, by country groups and stage of entrepreneurial activity, of males and females who answered "yes" to each of four questions related to factors influencing perceptions.

The perceptual factors data provides an interesting window into the entrepreneurial mind-set. Individuals who are involved in entrepreneurial activity (whether early stage or established) clearly differ from those who are not, regardless of country groups or gender. Specifically, men and women entrepreneurs at any stage tend to be more confident in their own skills, are more likely to know other entrepreneurs, and are more alert to the existence of unexploited opportunities than people who indicate no involvement in entrepreneurial activity. Although patterns are qualitatively similar, in all three country groups and in early stage and established entrepreneurship, a lower percentage of women than men know other entrepreneurs and believe themselves to have the sufficient skills for running a business. In other words, men have more role models or social connections and tend to be more self-assured in their perception of their own abilities.

Table 5 also clearly shows that women who choose to pursue entrepreneurial activity, at any stage, tend to be more optimistic about their own ability and about the existence of unexploited market opportunity than those who stay away from new venture creation. These findings are consistent with other research in which scholars have shown that entrepreneurs and nonentrepreneurs differ on such attributes. Entrepreneurs exhibit significantly higher levels of self-confidence and belief in their own capabilities. This self-confidence, in turn, may increase alertness to recognize opportunities and thus the creation of more new firms. While the levels of self-confidence and opportunity recognition may vary by gender, this pattern nonetheless holds true for all entrepreneurs compared with those who choose not to engage in venture formation.

The GEM data suggests that fear of failure is, in fact, highly correlated to entrepreneurial activity, although such relationship may be mitigated by country context. Noticeably, more than one-third of women who engaged in no business activity expressed fear of failure. Table 5 shows that men and women who are involved in entrepreneurial activity at any stage tend overall to be less afraid of failure than people who indicate no involvement in entrepreneurial activity. However, while patterns for both early stage and established entrepreneurship are qualitatively similar by gender, a higher percentage of females than males would let fear of failure prevent them from starting a business. Further, country context does seem to have a particular impact on rates of fear of failure. While fear of failure rates are similar across gender in the highincome countries, this is not the case in other regions. Fear of failure is significantly higher for women than men in both low/middle-income country groups, particularly among the Europe and Asia low/middle-income countries where the expression of fear of failure for women entrepreneurs (42.6 percent) is almost double that for early stage women entrepreneurs in Latin America and Caribbean low/middle-income countries (22.5 percent).

Interestingly, for women in European and Asian low/middle-income countries, regardless of entrepreneurial stage, women entrepreneurs express fear of failure at the same rate as those who are not



CHARACTERISTICS OF WOMEN ENTREPRENEURS

engaged in entrepreneurial activity. It appears that something in the regional or cultural context influences women's fear of failure and begs the question

Latin America and Caribbean

High-Income Countries

Female

Male

Female

as to how much higher the rate of entrepreneurship in this region might be were the pattern more comparable to that in other countries.

Table 5. Factors Influencing the Entrepreneurs' Perceptions by Gender and Business Stage

Personally Knows an Entrepreneur Who Started a Business in the Past Two Years No Entrepreneurial Early Stage Established Activity				
			/	
Low/Middle-Income Countries	Male	43.60%	76.80%	64.70%
Europe and Asia	Female	36.50%	54.20%	52.20%
Low/Middle-Income Countries	Male	46.80%	68.20%	55.60%
Latin America and Caribbean	Female	34.10%	56.90%	46.40%
High-Income Countries	Male	36.50%	60.40%	52.80%
	Female	27.90%	56.60%	45.90%

Sees Good Startup Opportunities in the Next Six Months in His/Her Area No Entrepreneurial Early Stage Established Activity					
Low/Middle-Income Countries	Male	33.70%	57.40%	47.70%	
Europe and Asia	Female	30.90%	50.30%	42.40%	
Low/Middle-Income Countries	Male	29.10%	70.90%	60.50%	
Latin America and Caribbean	Female	44.10%	67.10%	59.80%	
High-Income Countries	Male	35.40%	64.60%	52.20%	
	Female	33.50%	59.70%	45.00%	

Has the	Required K	nowledge and Skills to S No Entrepreneurial Activity	Start a Business Early Stage	Established	
Low/Middle-Income Countries Europe and Asia	Male Female	41.00% 30.20%	83.50% 76.50%	77.70% 68.40%	
Low/Middle-Income Countries Latin America and Caribbean	Male Female	68.80% 54.80%	92.10% 86.40%	89.30% 85.80%	
High-Income Countries	Male Female	49.50% 36.20%	88.70% 85.50%	88.30% 82.70%	
Fear o	of Failure Wo	ould Prevent from Starti No Entrepreneurial Activity	ng a Business Early Stage	Established	
Low/Middle Income Countries Europe and-Asia	Male Female	33.70% 40.20%	23.90% 42.60%	30.50% 39.0%	
Low/Middle-Income Countries	Male	28.55%	17.10%	21.30%	

36.00%

38.20%

43.40%

22.50%

26.10%

27.10%

26.10%

23.90%

27.10%



SOCIAL POSITION, PERCEPTIONS, AND BUSINESS CREATION

By Amanda Elam

There is an old saying popular among American football coaches: "Good luck is when preparation meets opportunity." Preparation in the context of this old sports adage refers to the skills, abilities, and mental states of the athlete. This idea plays out in the marketplace as well. *What does it mean to be prepared for a good business opportunity? Are men and women equally prepared to meet such opportunities?*

Much of the current thinking in management and economic circles focuses on the importance of access to resources such as financial capital and information. The problem with this thinking is that, while it identifies at least two key resources important for preparation, it underspecifies the factors that define social position and ignores the importance of dispositional factors. Sociologists, for instance, look to a much broader set of factors as key determinants of the economic decisions that individuals make.

Prevailing sociological definitions of social structure and the contexts, or, social positions from which individuals make decisions and take action include a broad set of factors that characterize specific social positions, including resources such as economic assets, education and experience, social ties, and social status (legitimacy or prestige). Contemporary social theory further stresses the fact that these resources are more or less convertible-that is, one may be traded for another at varying exchange rates. Not only do these resources define the contexts in which men and women find themselves, but they serve as the resources that individuals draw upon to act. The resource, or capital sets, that define one's social position also are associated with particular worldviews (i.e., sets of perceptions about oneself and the surrounding environment) that determine how individuals

relate to, use, and mobilize the resources necessary to start a business.¹¹

Feminist theories of gender difference have certainly wrestled with this notion of preparation in terms of both social position and worldviews. A liberal feminist perspective, in fact, argues that gender differences are a direct result of the different positioning of men and women in the social structure. A social, or, cultural feminist perspective, on the other hand, argues that gender differences arise because men and women experience life in fundamentally different ways and, as a consequence, develop fundamentally different dispositions and approaches to the market place.¹²

Earlier GEM reports have indicated the extent to which startup activity differs between men and women varies with the level of national development as measured by per capita GDP (PPP). However, even in countries with similar levels of development, the distribution of individuals across the structure can vary considerably by country. As sociologists see it, all individuals in a given population are, in fact, distributed into various positions across a social structure according to a socially defined division of labor and distribution of rewards. Furthermore, in all countries, there are distinct gender patterns to this distribution of individuals that result in differential outcomes in terms of market behaviours such as entrepreneurship or business startup. Women and men, in fact, find themselves in distinctly different positions with different levels and types of preparation for the marketplace.

Combining both a macro view of the importance of social structure for understanding who is most likely to pursue entrepreneurship activity with a micro-level view of how action is determined by social position and/or perceptions presents an interesting question about the relative importance of



CHARACTERISTICS OF WOMEN ENTREPRENEURS

Social Position, Perceptions, and Business Creation continued

national wealth, social position, or perceptions as explanations of entrepreneurship participation patterns across countries and gender.

The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor data provide the means to test such a question. Using some basic HLM methodology and a measure of per capita GDP (PPP), we used XTMELOGIT procedure in Stata to calculate percentage change in random variations for gender and country for three years of GEM data-2005, 2006, and 2007-attributable to variations in national development, social position, and perceptions. The dependent variable used was a conventional measure of early stage entrepreneurship, nascent entrepreneurship—i.e., those respondents actively pursuing business creation. Social position was specified in terms of four types of capital resources-economic, cultural, social, and symbolic. Economic capital was measured by household income class. Cultural capital is specified in terms of age (experience) and education. And symbolic capital represents the legitimacy associated with status characteristics, in this case gender. Individual worldview was measured in terms of three perceptions-the expectation of seeing a good business opportunity in the next six months, belief that one has the skills to start a business, and a fear of business failure. The results are presented here in Table 6.

These results show that for gender variation in nascent entrepreneurship, perceptions offer the most explanatory power, followed by GDP and social position. GDP only explains at most 3 percent of gender variation in business startup activity. In the 2006 data, GDP actually increases the amount gender variation to be explained. Social position has little explanatory power for gender variations in nascent entrepreneurship. In fact, controlling for social position factors produces an 8-30 percent increase in the gender variation to be explained, indicating that there is more difference in startup activity among men and women in similar social positions than across social positions. In contrast to GDP and social position results, perceptions account for 26-49 percent of the gender variation in nascent entrepreneurship. The 2006 results regarding gender variation appear to be anomalous. The source of this variation is most likely due to the particular mix of countries in the sample for that year.

The results further demonstrate the explanatory power of perceptions and social position above and beyond national wealth for the variation in startup activity across countries. GDP only explains about 4.5–10.7 percent of the country variation in nascent entrepreneurship. Social position explains 8.7 percent at most of the country variation. The 2007 data showed an increase in the amount of country



	2005	% gender varia 2006	tion 2007	% 2005	country varia 2006	tion 2007
(+) GDP	3	-10.5	0.3	4.5	9.8	10.7
(+) social position	-5.8	-37.2	-27	13.2	18	2
(+) perceptions	20.7	4.8	22.4	40.5	39.4	33.4

¹¹ For more information on sociological definitions of social position, see Bourdieu 1986 or Elam 2008.

¹² For a review of feminist theory and entrepreneurship, see Greer and Greene 2003, or Fischer, Reuber, and Dyke 1997.



variation with the control of social position factors. Again, perceptions prove to offer the strongest explanation of the variation in nascent entrepreneurship across countries, explaining around 27.3–31.4 percent of the country variation.

Taken on the whole, these results indicate that perceptions matter much more for predicting gender differences in business startup than social position and national development. Before accepting such a finding at face value, however, we must consider the bias toward advanced economies in the sample of countries involved in this analysis. Women in less developed contexts face much more serious barriers to formal economic participation and significantly higher rates of informal economic participation than their counterparts in advanced economies. Accordingly, social position factors are likely to hold more relative importance in such contexts. Indeed regression analysis of individual countries indicates that the relative importance of social position factors and perceptions varies considerably across national contexts. As countries develop, however, and the playing field is increasingly leveled, perceptions will increasingly become the defining difference among individuals and, consequently, an increasingly important predictor of business startup activity.

In the sense of being in the right place at the right time—that is, being in social positions where opportunity is most likely to knock—social position is a key tenet in sociological theories of behaviour. However, the results indicate that gender differences are not explained well by different sets of capital resources, but more so by different relationships with those capital resources. If you give a poor person money, he will do something very different with that money than a rich person will because the way that individual relates to money is fundamentally different from the way that the rich person relates to money. The same type of process occurs with gender. Given similar economic resources, women will make fundamentally different decisions about what to do with that capital. Given similar information and education, women will choose to do fundamentally different things with these resources. Given similar social ties, women will draw upon those ties in fundamentally different ways. And finally given a similar level of credibility, women will use this resource in fundamentally different ways.

Nonetheless, it is clear that cultivating a better understanding about the relationship between social structure, perceptions, and macro factors, such as GDP, is extremely important for the study and understanding of entrepreneurship activity. As countries develop, governments and other regulating bodies are faced with the daunting task of setting policy that encourages or sustains positive economic growth and social stability in an increasingly complex institutional environment. Changes in macrolevel factors affect people in different social locations differently. Moreover, perceptions appear to be linked to specific social positions, particularly for gender. So, even if women are positioned relatively well compared to men, different perceptions about self and environment might prevent them from starting businesses.



CONCLUSIONS

IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICY

The GEM data for 2007 suggests several important conclusions with respect to women's entrepreneur-ship around the globe:

- Women's entrepreneurship matters. Women are creating and running businesses across a wide range of countries and under varying circumstances. Female entrepreneurship is an increasingly important part of the economic makeup of many countries and might be a key contributor to economic growth in low/middle-income countries, particularly in Latin America and the Caribbean.
- 2. A gender gap exists with respect to new venture creation and business ownership. This gap is significant and systematic, varying both by country GDP as well as by region. The gender difference is more pronounced in high-income countries but persists throughout all regions, with European and Asian low/middle-income countries showing a greater gap than the Latin American and Caribbean low/middle-income countries.
- Employment and a social network that includes other entrepreneurs are stronger predictors of women's entrepreneurship than educational attainment or household income.
- 4. Perceptual factors that reflect optimism, selfconfidence, and no/low fear of failure are important predictors of women's entrepreneurship.

Women find themselves in very different situations compared to men, and these different situations result in different perceptions about the world. Given similar situations, the data suggests that women perceive the world differently from men in comparable situations. The implications for policymaking that emerge from this diversity of circumstances and perspectives point to the need for customized or targeted policies. As we have learned from programs such as the UNDP's gender mainstreaming initiative, successful and sustainable economic growth is best achieved when all citizens are mobilized and empowered. Research and policymaking may perhaps best be focused on how to effectively change the business environment and social institutions to support women through employment, access to social and financial capital, and raising self-confidence. Of particular importance is research that investigates the relationship between factors at the country/regional level and key indicators at the individual level. The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor points scholars and policymakers to some of these key indicators and offers the opportunity for further inquiry.



GEM 2007 NATIONAL TEAMS

Team	Institution	National Team Members	Financial Sponsors	APS Vendor
Argentina	Center for Entrepreneurship, IAE Management and Business School Universidad Austral	Silvia Torres Carbonell Hector Rocha Valeria Romero	Center for Entrepreneurship, IAE Management and Business School Banco Rio	MORI Argentina
Austria	FH JOANNEUM, University of Applied Sciences University of Graz	Gerhard Apfelthaler Ursula Schneider Martin Neubauer Eva Maria Tusini	FH JOANNEUM GesmbH – University of Applied Sciences Wirtschaftskammer Österreich – Austrian Federal Economic Chamber	OGM-Österreichische Gesellschaft für Marketing
		Thomas Schmalzer	Federal Ministry of Economics and Labour AWO – Außenwirtschaft Österreich – Austrian Foreign Trade Promotion Organisation AWS – Austria Wirtschaftsservice Land Steiermark	
Belgium	Vlerick Leuven Gent Management School	Hans Crijns Miguel Meuleman Sabine Vermeulen	Flemish Government (Steunpunt Ondernemerschap, Ondernemingen, en Innovatie)	TNS Dimarso
Brazil	IBQP - Instituto Brasileiro da Qualidade e Produtividade	Simara Maria S. S. Greco Paulo Alberto Bastos Junior Joana Paula Machado Rodrigo G. M. Silvestre Carlos Artur Krüger Passos Júlio César Felix Marcos Mueller Schlemm	IBQP - Instituto Brasileiro da Qualidade e Produtividade SEBRAE- Serviço Brasileiro de Apoio às Micro e Pequenas Empresas Sistema Federação das Indústrias do Estado do Paraná (FIEP, SESI, SENAI e IEL) MCT - Ministério da Ciência e Tecnologia	Instituto Bonilha
Chile	Universidad Adolfo Ibáñez	Jorge Miguel Carrillo Germán Echecopar	Santander Universidades (Grupo Santander) Universidad Adolfo Ibáñez-Centro de Entrepreneurship	Benchmark
	Universidad del Desarrollo	José Ernesto Amorós Massiel Guerra	Universidad del Desarrollo-Facultad de Economía y Negocios.	
<i>Regional Teams:</i> Región Antofagasta	<i>Regional Universities:</i> Universidad Católica del Norte	<i>Regional Members:</i> Gianni Romaní Chocce Miguel Atienza Úbeda	<i>Regional Sponsors:</i> Corporación para el Desarrollo Productivo (CDP) Universidad Católica del Norte – Centro de Emprendimiento y de la Pyme	
Región Valparaíso	Universidad Técnico Federico Santa Maria	Cristóbal Fernández Juan Tapia Jorge Cea	Universidad Técnico Federico Santa Maria-Departamento de Industrias, Economía y Negocios	
Región del Bío-Bío	Universidad del Desarrollo	Olga Pizarro Stiepovic José Ernesto Amorós	Universidad del Desarrollo-Facultad de Economía y Negocios.	
Región de los Ríos	Universidad Austral de Chile	Christian Felzensztein Pablo Díaz Madariaga	Universidad Austral de Chile-Facultad de Ciencias Económicas y Administrativas	
China	National Entrepreneurship Centre, Tsinghua University	Jian Gao Lan Qin Yuan Cheng Xibao Li Wei Zhang	Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission	SINOTRUST Marketing Research & Consulting Ltd.
Colombia	Universidad Javeriana Cali Universidad Icesi Universidad del Norte Universidad de los Andes	Jorge Jiménez Liyis Gómez Rodrigo Varela Juan Pablo Correales	Universidad Javeriana Cali Universidad Icesi Universidad del Norte Universidad de Ios Andes CONFENALCO VALLE SENA	Centro Nacional de Consultoría
Croatia	J.J. Strossmayer University in Osijek	Slavica Singer Natasa Sarlija Sanja Pfeifer Djula Borozan Suncica Oberman Peterka	Ministry of Economy, Labour and Entrepreneurship CEPOR – SME Policy Centre, Zagreb J.J. Strossmayer University in Osijek – Faculty of Economics	Puls, d.o.o., Zagreb
Denmark	University of Southern Denmark	Thomas Schøtt Torben Bager Kim Klyver Hannes Ottosson Kent Wickstrøm	International Danish Entrepreneurship Academy (IDEA) National Agency for Enterprise and Construction	
Dominican Republic	Pontificia Universidad Católica Madre y Maestra (PUCMM)	Guillermo van der Linde Maribel Justo Alina Bello José Rafael Pérez Tania Canaán	Grupo Vicini Independent Financial Center of the Americas Consejo Nacional de Competitividad Centro de Exportación e Inversión de la República Dominicana Cámara de Diputados de la República Dominicana	Gallup República Dominicana

GEM 2007 NATIONAL TEAMS

Finland	Turku School of Economics Imperial College, London	Anne Kovalainen Tommi Pukkinen Jarna Heinonen Pekka Stenholm Pia Arenius Erkko Autio	Ministry of Trade and Industry	TNS Gallup Oy
France	EM LYON	Olivier Torres Danielle Rousson	Caisse des Depots	CSA
Greece	Foundation for Economic and Industrial Research (IOBE)	Stavros loannides Takis Politis Aggelos Tsakanikas	Hellenic Bank Association	Datapower SA
Hong Kong	The Chinese University of Hong Kong Center for Entrepreneurship	Hugh Thomas Kevin Au Louis Leung Bernard Suen Sandy Yip Rosanna Lo	The Chinese University of Hong Kong The Asia- Pacific Institute of Business	The Chinese University of Hong Kong Center for Communication Research
Hungary	University of Pécs, Faculty of Business and Economics	László Szerb Zoltan J. Acs Attila Varga József Ulbert Siri Terjesen Krisztián Csapó Gábor Kerékgyártó	Ministry of Economy and Transport University of Pécs, Faculty of Business and Economics Ohio University (USA)	Szocio-Gráf Piac-és Közvélemény-kutató Intézet
lceland	RU Centre for Research on Innovation and Entrepreneurship (Reykjavik University)	Rögnvaldur Sæmundsson Silja Björk Baldursdóttir	Reykjavik University, The Confederation of Icelandic Employers, New Business Venture Fund, Prime Minister's Office	Capacent Gallup
India	Pearl School of Business, Gurgaon	Ashutosh Bhupatkar I. M. Pandey Janakiraman Moorthy Gour Saha	Pearl School of Business, Gurgaon	Metric Consultancy
Ireland	Dublin City University	Paula Fitzsimons Colm O'Gorman	Enterprise Ireland Forfás NDP Gender Equality Unit of the Department of Justice, Equality and Law Reform	IFF
Israel	The Ira Center of Business, Technology & Society, Ben Gurion University of the Negev	Ehud Menipaz Yoash Avrahami Miri Lerner	The Ira Center of Business, Technology & Society, Ben Gurion University of the Negev	The Brandman Institute
Italy	Bocconi University	Guido Corbetta Alexandra Dawson Anna Canato	Ernst & Young	Target Research
Japan	Keio University Musashi University Shobi University	Takehiko Isobe Noriyuki Takahashi Tsuneo Yahagi	Venture Enterprise Center	Social Survey Research Information Co., Ltd (SSRI
Kazakhstan	Innovative University of Eurasia	Guzal Baimuldinova Vilen Elisseev Zauresh Omarova Natalya Smernitskaya Denis Valivach	USAID	BRiF Research Group
Latvia	The TeliaSonera Institute at Stockholm School of Economics in Riga	Olga Rastrigina Vyacheslav Dombrovsky Andrejs Jakobsons	TeliaSonera AB	Latvijas Fakti
Netherlands	EIM Business and Policy Research	Jolanda Hessels Sander Wennekers Kashifa Suddle André van Stel Niels Bosma Roy Thurik Ingrid Verheul	Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs	Stratus marktonderzoek bv
Norway	Bodoe Graduate School of Business	Lars Kolvereid Erlend Bullvaag Bjoern Willy Aamo Erik Pedersen	Ministry of Local Government and Regional Development Ministry of Trade and Industry Innovation Norway The Knowledge Fund, at Bodoe Knowledge Park Itd.	TNS Gallup

Peru	Centro de Desarrollo Emprendedor, Universidad ESAN	Jaime Serida Nishimura Keiko Nakamatsu Yonamine Armando Borda Reyes Liliana Uehara Uehara Jessica Alzamora Ruiz	Universidad ESAN	SAMIMP Research
Portugal	Sociedade Portuguesa de Inovação, S.A.	Augusto Medina Douglas Thompson Sara Medina Anders Hyttel Miguel Taborda Inês Luis António Vieira	IAPMEI (Apoio às Pequenas e Médias Empresas e à Inovação) FLAD (Fundação Luso-Americanapara o Desenvolvimento) BES (Banco Espírito Santo)	GFK Metris
Puerto Rico	Entrepreneurship Development Program University of Puerto Rico School of Business Rio Piedras	Luis Rivera Oyola Joaquin Villamil Jacquelina Rodriguez Mont Juan M. Roman Bartolome Gamundi David Zayas Anibal Baez Enid Flores Maritza Espina Marcos Vidal Laura Gorbea Jorge L. Rodriguez	Compañía de Comercio y Exportación de Puerto Rico Banco de Desarrollo Económico para Puerto Rico DISUR INTECO Pontifice Universidad Catolica de Puerto Rico	El Dia Directo Research Technologies
Romania	Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Babes-Bolyai University	Agnes Nagy Laszlo Szerb Lehel-Zoltan Györfy Matis Dumitru Stefan Pete Mircea Comsa Annamaria Benyovszki Tunde Petra Petru Mircea Solovastru, Mustatā Rāzvan Nagy Zsuzsánna-Ágnes	Ministry of Education and Research, National Program Management Center (CEEX) Új Kézfogás Közalapítvány/Foundation Pro Oeconomica Association Babes-Bolyai University, Faculty of Economics and Business Administration Metro Media Transilvania	Metro Media Transilvania
Russia	Saint Petersburg Team Graduate School of Management, Saint Petersburg	Olga Verhovskaya Vassily Dermanov Valery Katkalo Maria Dorokhina	Graduate School of Management at Saint Petersburg State University	0+K Marketing + Consulting
	<i>Moscow Team</i> State University – Higher School of Economics, Moscow	Alexander Chepurenko Olga Obraztsova Tatiana Alimova Maria Gabelko	State University – Higher School of Economics	Levada-Center
Serbia	The Faculty of Economics Subotica	Dusan Bobera Bozidar Lekovic Stevan Vasiljev Pere Tumbas Sasa Bosnjak Slobodan Maric	Executive Council of Vojvodina Province - Department for Privatization, Entrepreneurship and Small and Medium Enterprises, NoviSad Chamber of Commerce of Serbia, Belgrade Chamber of Commerce of Vojvodina, Novi Sad	Marketing Agency "Drdrazen" d.o.o. Subotica
Slovenia	Institute for Entrepreneurship & Small Business Management, Faculty of Economics and Business, University of Maribor	Miroslav Rebernik Polona Tominc Ksenja Pušnik	Ministry of the Economy Slovenian Research Agency Smart Com Finance – Slovenian Business Daily	RM PLUS
Spain Regional Teams: Andalucía Asturias Canary I. Castille Leon Castille Ia Mancha Catalonia C. Valenciana Extremadura Galicia Madrid Murcia Navarra Basque Country Ceuta	Instituto de Empresa <i>Regional Universities:</i> Cádiz Oviedo Las Palmas & La Laguna León Castille la Mancha Autónoma de Barcelona Miguel Hernández Fundación Xavier de Salas Santiago de Compostela Autónoma de Madrid Murcia Pública de Navarra Deusto & Basque Country Granada	Ignacio de la Vega Alicia Coduras Regional Team Directors: José Ruiz Navarro Juan Ventura Victoria Rosa M. Batista Canino Mariano Nieto Antolín Miguel Ángel Galindo Martín Carlos Guallarte José M [®] Gómez Gras Ricardo Hernández Mogollón J. Alberto Díez de Castro Eduardo Bueno Campos Antonio Aragón Sánchez Iñaki Mas Erice Iñaki Peña Legazkue Lázaro Rodríguez Ariza Maria del Mar Fuentes	Dirección Gral. Política PYMEs Instituto de Empresa Cámaras de Comercio Junta de Andalucía Gob. del Principado de Asturias Gob. De Canarias, Cabildo Fondo Social Europeo Centros de Innovación Europeos (Navarra, Murcia, C y León) Generalitat de Catalunya Junta de Extremadura Air Nostrum, CEG, BIC Galicia IMADE, FGUAM Fundación Caja Murcia Eusko Ikaskuntza Instituto Vasco de Competitividad FESNA Universidad de Granada	Instituto Opinòmetre S.L.

GEM 2007 NATIONAL TEAMS

Sweden	ESBRI – Entrepreneurship and Small Business Research Institute	Magnus Aronsson Mikael Samuelsson	Confederation of Swedish Enterprise (Svenskt Näringsliv) NUTEK – Swedish Agency for Economic and Regional Growth VINNOVA – Swedish Governmental Agency for Innovation Systems	SKOP
Switzerland	University of St. Gallen IMD EPFL	Thierry Volery Heiko Bergmann Benoit Leleux Georges Haour Marc Gruber	CTI / KTI Seco	gfs.bern
Thailand	College of Management, Mahidol University	Thanaphol Virasa Kelvin Willoughby Tang Zhi Min	Office of Small and Medium Enterprises Promotion College of Management, Mahidol University	Taylor Nelson Sofres (Thailand) Ltd.
Turkey	Yeditepe University	Nilüfer Erican Esra Karadeniz	Endeavor, Turkey Country Office Akbank	Akademetre Research & Strategic Planning
United Arab Emirates	Zayed University	Kenneth J Preiss Declan McCrohan Raed Daoudi	Mohammed Bin Rashi Establishment for Young Business Leaders	IPSOS-STAT (Emirates)
Kingston University Scotland Unit:	London Business School	Rebecca Harding	BERR Enterprise Directorate One North East North West Development Agency, Yorkshire Forward Advantage West Midlands East Midlands Development Agency South of England Development Agency South East Development Agency Doncaster District Council Barking and Dagenham District Council	IFF
	Small Business Research Centre,	Mark Hart	InvestNI Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment (NI) Belfast City Council	
	Hunter Center for Entrepreneurship,	Jonathan Levie	Hunter Centre for Entrepreneurship, University of Strathclyde Scottish Enterprise	
	Wales Unit: National Entrepreneurship Observatory for Wales Cardiff University University of Glamorgan	David Brooksbank Dylan Jones-Evans	Wales European Funding Office Welsh Assembly Government	
United States	Babson College	I. Elaine Allen William D. Bygrave Marcia Cole	Babson College	Opinion Research Corporation (ORC)
	George Mason University	Zoltan Acs		
	Bodoe Graduate School of Business	Erlend Bullvaag		
Uruguay	IEEM Business School – Universidad de Montevideo	Jorge Pablo Regent Vitale Leonardo Veiga Adrián Edelman Cecilia Gomeza	IEEM Business School – Universidad de Montevideo	Mori, Uruguay
Venezuela	IESA – Centro de Emprendedores	Federico Fernandez Dupouy Rebeca Vidal Aramis Rodriguez	Mercantil Servicios Financieros Fundacion Iesa Petrobras Energía Venezuela	Datanalisis
GEM Global Coordination Team	London Business School	Michael Hay Mark Quill Chris Aylett Jackline Odoch Mick Hancock	London Business School	N/A
	Babson College	William D. Bygrave Maria Minniti Marcia Cole Jeff Seaman	Babson College	
	Utrecht University Imperial College	Niels Bosma Erkko Autio		

GEM SPONSORS



THE CENTER FOR WOMEN'S LEADERSHIP AT BABSON COLLEGE

The Center for Women's Leadership at Babson College is the first center dedicated to women in business and entrepreneurship at a leading school of management. Through educational programs, research, and executive education, The Center for Women's Leadership promotes the advancement of women at all stages of their professional development and the achievement of competitive advantage by companies focused on the talent and market power of women. The Center for Women's Leadership collaborates with companies and business-related organizations to understand the issues that contribute to women's leadership success in business and entrepreneurship.



GERA AND GEM

The Global Entrepreneurship Research Association "GERA" is, for formal constitutional and regulatory purposes, the umbrella organization that hosts the GEM project. GERA is an association formed of Babson College, London Business School, and representatives of the Association of GEM national teams.

The GEM program is a major initiative aimed at describing and analyzing entrepreneurial processes within a wide range of countries. The program has three main objectives:

- To measure differences in the level of entrepreneurial activity between countries
- To uncover factors leading to appropriate levels of entrepreneurship
- To suggest policies that may enhance the national level of entrepreneurial activity

New developments, and all global, national, and special topic reports, can be found at www.gemconsortium.org. The program is sponsored by Babson College and the GEM National Teams.



BABSON COLLEGE

Babson College in Wellesley, Massachusetts, USA, is recognized internationally as a leader in entrepreneurial management education. Babson grants BS degrees through its innovative undergraduate program, and grants MBA and custom MS and MBA degrees through the F.W. Olin Graduate School of Business at Babson College. Babson Executive Education offers executive development programs to experienced managers worldwide. For information, visit www.babson.edu.

CONTACTS

For more information on this report, contact:

The Center for Women's Leadership at Babson College: www.babson.edu/cwl 1-781-239-5001

To download copies of the GEM Global Report(s), GEM National Team Reports, and to access select data sets, please visit the GEM Web site: www.gemconsortium.org.

Nations not currently represented in the GEM Consortium may express interest in joining and ask for additional information by e-mailing Mick Hancock at **mhancock@london.edu**.



GLOBAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP MONITOR

www.gemconsortium.org